IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

J. C. FEAD, SR.,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 68,341

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.



ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MADISON COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

J. C. FEAD, SR., :

Appellant, :

v. : CASE NO. 68,341

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

<u>____</u>_

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant below, and will be referred to as appellant, or J. C., or by his nickname Buddy in this brief. An eight volume record on appeal, including transcripts, is sequentially numbered at the bottom of each page, and will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. All exhibits will be referred to by their exhibit number. All proceedings below were before Circuit Judge L. Arthur Lawrence, Jr.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By indictment filed November 19, 1984, appellant was charged with first degree murder, the crime having occurred on October 14, 1984 (R 1-2). Appellant entered a written plea of not guilty through court appointed counsel on January 14, 1985 (R 14). A psychiatrist was appointed to examine appellant and report to his counsel (R 34-42). Appellant's pretrial motion for supplemental discovery (R 87-88), motion to dismiss the indictment (R 89-90), and motion for individual voir dire were denied just prior to the trial (R 542-49).

The jury trial was held on November 13-15, 1985, and at the conclusion thereof appellant was found guilty as charged (R 477). On November 21, 1985, the jury recommended a life sentence (R 503). Appellant's motion for new trial (R 504-505) was denied by written order filed February 5, 1986 (R 528). On November 25, 1985, appellant was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to death, the court overriding the jury's life recommendation by finding two aggravating circumstances and only one mitigating circumstance (R 506-10; 521-54).

On February 14, 1986, a timely notice of appeal was filed (R 529). On April 24, 1986, the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to represent appellant.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Just prior to trial, the sheriff was cautioned not to converse with the prospective jurors, since he would be a witness at the trial (R 541-42). Appellant also presented his motion to dismiss (R 89) which was orally denied (R 542-43). Appellant also presented his motion for individual voir dire (R 91). The court agreed to allow individual voir dire if general inquiry disclosed the need for it (R 543-47). Appellant also presented his motion for supplemental discovery (R 87-88) which was orally denied (R 547-49).

The jury was selected and sworn (R 549-861). Opening statements were given (R 866-80). The state's first witness, Investigator Oliver J. Lake, identified drawings he had made of the Pine Lake Apartments, located in Greenville, eight months after the crime (R 880-89). The trial was recessed until the next day (R 889).

Reginald Jerome "Greg" Hawkins verified that the drawing of the apartment complex was accurate, and that drawing was entered into evidence without objection as state exhibit #1. The same occurred as to state exhibit #2, the diagram of the apartment. An overlay of the arrangement of furniture in the apartment was entered into evidence as state exhibit #3, over objection that it was not accurate (R 895-99).

Hawkins testified that he was the brother-in-law of the victim, Lisa Poole. On the Saturday morning before the shooting, Hawkins' wife Joanna went fishing with appellant. They returned later, at about 5:30 or 6:00 p.m., and appellant asked where Lisa was. Hawkins went with appellant to look for Lisa. They went to John Henry's Place and each had a beer. They returned home and left a second time to drive around and look for Lisa. Hawkins saw appellant put a gun on the dashboard of the truck. Appellant said he would kill the girl because he had told her to stay home. Hawkins then split up with appellant, and went to John Henry's again, where he finally located Lisa and told her what appellant had said (R 900-906).

At about 7:15 p.m., appellant and Lisa came to Hawkins' apartment and picked up Joanna, for a night out. The three returned to apartment 6 at about 1:00 a.m. while Hawkins was in apartment 10 watching a movie.

Nothing appeared to be wrong between appellant and Lisa. Five minutes later Joanna came into apartment 10 and said appellant and Lisa were tearing up apartment 6. Hawkins told the two to fight elsewhere. Hawkins returned to the movie in apartment 10, but then went back to his apartment, where Lisa was trying to leave (R 906-15).

Appellant pulled the pistol from his boot. Lisa jumped behind Hawkins. Appellant fired one shot at Hawkins' feet. Lisa jumped again and appellant shot her in the neck

or shoulder. She fell, and appellant then straddled her and shot her twice in the head. Appellant left in his truck (R 915-24). In Hawkins' opinion, appellant was not drunk that night, and Lisa had had nothing at all to drink (R 925-27). Appellant, age 45, was jealous of Lisa, age 23 (R 957-58).

Joanna Poole Hawkins, Lisa's sister and Greg's wife, testified that she went fishing with appellant at 11:00 a.m. that day. They returned at 2:00 p.m. and as they were cleaning the catfish, appellant left to find Lisa. Later that evening, Joanna went with appellant and her two sisters to Monticello, where they visited a bar and bought a bottle of whiskey, which appellant and Lisa drank. The four then went to a bar in Wascissa, where Lisa danced with three or four other men. They returned to Joanna's apartment. Lisa refused to leave with appellant. Joanna witnessed the argument and the shooting. In her opinion, Buddy was not drunk (R 961-80).

Appellant was jealous of Lisa, who liked to go out and party; appellant preferred to stay home (R 995-96). Appellant and Joanna took a six pack of 16 ounce beer on the fishing trip, and each had another tall can on the way home (R 981-84). When they went out drinking that night, appellant had the whiskey and another 16 ounce can of beer (R 997-1000).

Leslie "Chuckie" Poole, Lisa's brother, testified that when he arrived at Greg's apartment, appellant and

Lisa were having an argument. Joanna left to call the police. Chuckie went to a phone booth to call the police as well. As he left the booth, he heard a shot, and then another. He then saw appellant shoot Lisa while she was lying on the floor (R 1012-24). Appellant was jealous of Lisa (R 1026).

Greenville Police Officer Odel "Rabbit" Livingston testified that he responded to the apartment at 2:30 a.m. and saw Buddy driving away. He followed appellant to appellant's house. Appellant took his boots off and said he would be ready to go with the officer after he gave his sister some papers. Appellant became upset when Odel said it was time to go, but appellant was permitted to urinate into a pot in his room and then rode with Deputy Glee to the jail in the front seat of the patrol car. Odel searched for the gun but could not find it (R 1036-46). Odel could tell that appellant had been drinking (R 1048).

Deputy Sheriff Wesley Ross testified that he responded to the apartment and saw the victim, who was not breathing. Later, he assisted the sheriff in recovering the gun at appellant's house, which appellant voluntarily gave them (R 1056). He also transported evidence to the crime lab (R 1050-55).

Deputy Sheriff H. Q. Melgaard testified that he photographed the scene, which photos were entered into evidence without objection as state exhibit #10-13,

inclusive (R 1062-65). Jailer Lester Wetherington booked appellant into the jail at 5:00 a.m. and found eight .22 rifle cartridges in appellant's pocket (R 1062-70).

Sheriff Joe Peavy testified that he arrived at the scene at 2:30. He then went to the county jail (R 1071-73). During a proffer, he testified that he advised appellant of his constitutional rights at 4:00 a.m. Both he and appellant signed the rights waiver form. Appellant stated that he and the girl were scuffling and playing with the gun, and it had discharged accidentally. Appellant also said he had thrown the gun into the bushes in front of the apartment. He also interviewed appellant again later that morning. Appellant then said he had lied about the gun, and took Peavy to his house to recover it (R 1071-79).

On cross-examination during the proffer, the sheriff testified that appellant was not heavily intoxicated at the time of his arrest. However, he also admitted that he had testified at a parole revocation hearing on November 5, 1984, that appellant was "heavily intoxicated" (R 1080).

Appellant's counsel argued that the state was guilty of a discovery violation, since the response to discovery had stated that appellant told Peavy that "defendant and victim were arguing; defendant pulled his gun; dropped it to the floor; it went off and the bullet

hit victim" (R 9) and that Peavy's deposition had stated that appellant said "He dropped the pistol and it went off, and it was just an accident, but he didn't mean to do it, and it was just an accident" (R 173), but that Peavy's trial testimony was that appellant and the girl were playing with the gun. The court found no discovery violation (R 1082-84).

Appellant's counsel also argued that the statement was not an exception to the hearsay rule for an admission against penal interests, since it was only a self-serving declaration. The court found the statement was an admission and therefore admissible (R 1085-86).

Before the jury, Sheriff Peavy identified the rights waiver form, and it was entered into evidence as state exhibit #14 without objection. Over counsel's renewed objection, Sheriff Peavy testified that appellant stated the gun accidentally went off and the victim was killed. Appellant said he threw the gun into the bushes. The second rights waiver form was also entered into evidence as state exhibit #15 and 16, without objection. Peavy testified that appellant told him the gun was at his home. The sheriff and Deputy Ross accompanied appellant to the house, where appellant retrieved the gun from the back porch. The pistol contained four spent cartridges and two unfired rounds. The sheriff identified these items, as well as other pieces of evidence (R 1038-1100).

In the sheriff's opinion, appellant did not appear to be drunk, but did smell of alcohol. When the sheriff volunteered that appellant "didn't tell me the truth", appellant's counsel objected and asked that the comment be stricken and that the jury be instructed to disregard it. The court did so (R 1100-1102).

Upon cross-examination, the sheriff reluctantly admitted that he had testified on the prior occasion that appellant was "heavily intoxicated" (R 1103-05).

Chief Deputy James O. Bunting kept custody of the pistol and the bullets. When the prosecutor offered them into evidence, appellant's counsel argued that they were irrelevant. The court agreed (R 1105-1108).

During a recess, appellant's counsel moved for a mistrial because the sheriff had testified that appellant was lying, and because the instruction for the jury to disregard the testimony was insufficient to remove the damage. The court denied the motion (R 1109-10).

It was stipulated that state exhibit #17 was a photo of the victim, and it was entered into evidence without objection (R 1110-11). Medical Examiner Dwondia Flora was qualified as an expert without objection. He identified autopsy photographs of the victim, which were entered into evidence without objection as state exhibit #18-22, inclusive (R 1111-16). He removed the three bullets from the body and they were also entered into evidence without objection as state exhibit #7-9, inclusive.

He described a gunshot wound to the back of the left side of the head, into the brain, from which he recovered a bullet. He also described a second gunshot wound to the right side of the neck, which also contained powder burns. That bullet hit a vertebrae, split in two, and exited the neck. He also described a third gunshot wound to the back and a fourth non-fatal wound to the shoulder joint. The cause of death was from any of the three wounds to the head, neck, or back (R 1116-22). The victim had a blood alcohol content of .27, which showed that she was intoxicated (R 1123-27).

FDLE Firearms Examiner David L. Williams was qualified as an expert without objection. He determined that the gun was a single action revolver with a hair trigger. He determined that if the hammer is cocked, or is resting on the firing pin, the gun would fire if hit with another object, without pulling the trigger. He also determined that the four cartridges recovered from the gun were fired by it. He could not determine whether the three bullets recovered from the autopsy were fired from the gun, only that they were .22 caliber Remington Peters (R 1128-39). When the gun, cartridges, and bullets were offered into evidence, appellant's counsel objected because they were not sufficiently connected, but the court overruled the objection and the items were entered into evidence as state exhibit #4-9, inclusive (R 1140-41).

The state proffered the testimony of Cora Howard. She testified that she never married appellant, but had eight children by him. On May 19, 1973, she saw appellant shoot and kill Mamie Hurd. The court ruled the testimony to be irrelevant and inadmissible. The state rested (R 1142-58).

Appellant rested and the jury was excused for the day. Appellant renewed his motion for mistrial regarding the testimony of the sheriff that appellant had lied. The motion was again denied. Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal because the state had failed to prove the homicide was premeditated. The court denied the motion (R 1158-60).

During a charge conference, it was agreed that the jury would be instructed on voluntary intoxication (R 486) as a defense to first degree premeditated murder (R 1163-68). Appellant requested that the jury be instructed on the penalties for second degree murder and manslaughter, since it knew the penalty for first degree murder (R 1170-71). Appellant's counsel waived an instruction on third degree murder as a lesser offense (R 1172).

On November 15, 1985, final arguments were presented to the jury, during which appellant argued that appellant had no specific intent to commit first degree murder, due to his voluntary intoxication (R 1179-1237). The jury was instructed without further objection (R 1237-52).

After 50 minutes of deliberation, the jury returned its

verdict of guilty of first degree murder, and was released until the penalty phase (R 1252-57).

On November 21, 1985, the penalty phase was conducted. The state's only witness, Cora Howard, the mother of appellant's eight children, testified, over a relevancy objection, that she saw appellant shoot and kill Mamie Hurd on May 19, 1973 (R 1269-71). The prior judgment and sentence for second degree murder (R 512-13) was stipulated into evidence (R 502) and the stipulation was read to the jury, which included the fact that appellant was on parole (R 1272-74).

Appellant presented numerous witnesses in mitigation. Dr. Umesh Mhatre, a psychiatrist, was qualified as an expert. He examined appellant on May 30, 1985, after having reviewed the deposition of the witnesses. Dr. Mhatre concluded that appellant would have had a blood alcohol of .25 at the time of the shooting. This heavy level of intoxication would have severely affected appellant's ability to think and perform other functions. Appellant also would have been under extreme mental duress and extreme mental and emotional disturbance at the time of the crime due to his heavy intoxication (R 1274-79).

Dr. Mhatre further testified that a person's motor coordination begins to be affected at the .10 blood alcohol level. At the .20 level, the sensory coordination becomes affected. At the .30 level, people have a blackout spell and

cannot remember what happened. Between .20 and .30, the person loses the ability to think rationally and to understand his behavior. The person also loses the ability to control his impulses. At this level, the person may be unable to control himself at all (R 1280-82).

Dr. Mhatre further testified that appellant's ability to think rationally would have been affected to a great extent. He did not understand the consequences of his behavior. His actions were a result of anger and impulse. Any pre-existing feelings of anger and jealousy would be magnified by the alcohol. Appellant had a greatly diminished capacity to appreciate his acts and to control his impulses (R 1282-84).

Dr. Mhatre further testified that appellant expressed remorse over Lisa's death, and cried in the doctor's office when they talked about her. Appellant had placed his anger over her dancing with other men out of proportion, into a major issue, due to the heavy intoxication (R 1297). In Dr. Mhatre's opinion, appellant did not plan to kill her. His threats to her during the day were a way of expressing his anger (R 1298).

Mamie Lee Fead, age 50, Buddy's sister, testified that they grew up in Greenville in a family of 13 children. They were a poor family and the children had to work instead of go to school. Their parents were sharecroppers. Buddy went to school, but had to drop out to work as early

as the third grade. He started working at the feed mill, which was the only job he ever had. Buddy was a hard working man who supported his children. Buddy and Lisa were living with Mamie in their own room. When they were at home, Buddy and Lisa always got along well. Buddy cared very much for Lisa. Buddy would cook food and take it to Lisa. He would also take her bathing water to the room. Buddy was a quiet, easy going person (R 1300-1307).

Leroy Handley, owner of the Greenville Dry Cleaners, testified that he had known appellant all of his life. Handley would see J. C. almost every day, and very often took J. C. to work at the feed mill. J. C. also brought his clothes and his kids' clothes to the laundry every Friday. J. C. was always quiet and easy going; Handley had never seen appellant drunk. All of the businessmen and residents of the town liked J. C. (R 1307-12).

Wallace Bailey, an employee of the Greenville Feed and Farm Supply, testified that he had known Buddy all of his life, but became well acquainted with him since 1976, when they began working together at the feed mill. The two were in charge of the rest of the employees. Buddy was a faithful employee and a hard worker who always got along well with the other employees (R 1313-16).

James Tracy Stephens, supervisor at Florida Plywood in Greenville, testified that he had known Buddy to be an easy going, hard working man (R 1317-20). Jacqueline Day, a resident of Greenville for 19 1/2 years, testified that

Buddy was employed by her husband Wayne Day. Buddy had worked at Wayne's feed mill and also at their farm. She knew that Buddy had been convicted of murder and sent to prison in 1973. She never felt Buddy was a danger to her or to her two children (R 1321-25).

Wayne Day, former owner of the Day Feed Mill, testified that he began working with J. C. in March of 1958, at the feed mill. Both worked six or seven days a week, often at night. J. C. was highly trusted and rarely missed work. When Day bought the business in 1970, he made J. C. a production leader. He also worked well with customers. J. C. also worked with Day's hog and cattle operation at his farm (R 1326-28).

Day visited J. C. in prison in 1973. When J. C. was moved from Raiford to Tallahassee to a work release program, Day contacted him and personally brought J. C. back to Greenville upon his release. Day advised J. C. to put the money he had made on work release in the bank. J. C. did so, and about a year later, J. C. used the money for a down payment on a house. Day made him a personal loan and got J. C. settled into the house. Day never felt his children were in danger of J. C. (R 1329-31).

Troy Rhodes, Probation Supervisor with the Department of Corrections, testified that he had been in the Madison office since 1964, and had known appellant since the 1973 murder. When appellant was paroled from his life sentence in 1979, Rhodes became his supervisor. Rhodes' files reflected

that appellant was a model prisoner, having received no disciplinary reports while in prison. Rhodes also believed appellant to be a model parolee, having received no complaints about him. If appellant received a life sentence, he could work in farming within the prison system. Rhodes was not permitted to testify before the jury as to his opinion about whether the death sentence would be appropriate (R 1336-44). During a proffer, he did express his opinion that the aggravating circumstances were not sufficient to justify the death penalty (R 1347-56).

During a charge conference, appellant's counsel objected to the giving of an instruction on the aggravating circumstance of under sentence of imprisonment by virtue of being on parole, but conceded that this Court had ruled otherwise (R 1356-58). Appellant conceded that the instruction on prior violent felony was appropriate (R 1359). It was agreed that other aggravating circumstances would not be given. The prosecutor requested an instruction on heinous, atrocious and cruel, and on cold, calculated, and premeditated, to which appellant objected. The court overruled the objection as to the former but sustained the objection as to the latter (R 1359-68).

Appellant received instructions on two statutory mental mitigating circumstances, but two special requested mitigating instructions were denied, although counsel would be permitted to argue them to the jury (R 1368-75).

During the prosecutor's closing argument, he argued that there were three aggravating circumstances, but conceded that there were three mitigating circumstances (R 1379-92). Appellant's closing argument (R 1392-1411) resulted in a life recommendation from the jury after 40 minutes of deliberation (R 1417-20).

At sentencing on November 25, 1985, appellant introduced into evidence the report of appellant's preliminary parole violation hearing (R 1425). Appellant's counsel again conceded the first two aggravating circumstances existed, but argued that the third - heinous, atrocious, and cruel - should not be found (R 1426-36). Appellant's counsel further argued that the predominately white jury's recommendation of a life sentence should be followed (R 1436-57).

The judge stated that he had come to court with a "tentative idea" of what sentence to impose, and that appellant's counsel had not persuaded him otherwise (R 1463-64). The court made no mention of the life recommendation, but stated:

I do feel very strongly that there are two aggravating circumstances, both conceded by the defense, which far outweigh any mitigating circumstances.

(R 1464).

A written sentencing order was filed on January 17, 1986. It notes that the jury recommended life (R 522). It finds two aggravating circumstances: Under sentence of

imprisonment by being on parole, and prior violent felony conviction for second degree murder (R 522). It finds no statutory mitigating circumstances. It finds one non-statutory mitigating circumstance relating to appellant's character, but also notes that appellant had committed an uncharged crime of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (R 523). The order finds the sole mitigating circumstance "has almost no weight in relationship to the [two] aggravating circumstances" (R 524). The order further finds that "either one of the aggravating circumstances alone far outweigh [sic] the single mitigating circumstance" (R 524). This appeal follows.

IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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