IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

J. C. FEAD, SR.,

Appellant,

C. T 6 1986

COURT ierk _ CASE NO. 68

17

È

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOHN M. KOENIG, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not err in rejecting the jury's life recommendation and concluding that there was no reasonable basis for such life recommendation. The trial court considered all the evidence before the jury and concluded that each of the aggravating factors outweighed the one non-statutory mitigating factor. The jury's recommendation of life was not based on any valid, reasonable mitigating factor. The sentencing judge not only may but must overrule the jury when its recommended sentence is not the appropriate sentence under the law. Appellant's sentence of death should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRIDING THE JURY'S RECOMMENDATION OF LIFE AND SENTENCING APPELLANT TO DEATH.

It was the jury's advisory sentence sub judice, pursuant to \$921.141(2), Fla. Stat., that Appellant be sentenced to life imprisonment (R 1417-1420). The trial court, however, after considering all aggravating and mitigating circumstances under §921.141, Fla. Stat., including "any other aspect of the Defendant's character or record, and any other circumstance of the offense," concluded that the death penalty was appropriate (R 522-525). Specifically, the court determined that the State had proven two aggravating circumstances and that Appellant had proven no statutory mitigating circumstances and one non-statutory mitigating circumstance (R 524). The court then found that the aggravating circumstances, even when weighed separately, outweighed the non-statutory mitigating circumstance and warranted imposition of the death penalty (R 524-525).

Appellant now contends the trial court erred in overriding the jury's recommendation of life because there were reasonable bases upon which the jury could have premised its advisory sentence. The general rule espoused in <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975) is that in order to sustain a sentence of death following a jury recommendation of life, the facts suggesting a sentence of death should be so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person

-9-

could differ.¹ However, it is apparent from Appellant's brief that, because of the jury's life recommendation, the sentencing judge's statutory right of override should be done away with altogether and the judge should be relegated to a role of perfunctorily accepting the jury's life recommendation without giving any consideration to aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (See Initial Brief at 20).

Section 921.141(2), Fla. Stat., makes clear that the jury's role at sentencing in a capital case is merely advisory and is not binding on the trial court. Section 921.141(3) further provides that:

Notwithstanding the recommendation of a majority of the jury, the court, <u>after</u> weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, shall enter a sentence of life imprisonment or death, but if the court imposes a sentence of death, it shall set forth in writing its findings upon which the sentence of death is based as to the facts . . . (emphasis added)

Moreover, this Court has consistently and repeatedly held that it is the judge and not the jury that imposes sentence; the jury only recommends. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 454 (Fla. 1984); <u>State v.</u> <u>Dixon</u>, 238 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); <u>Lamadline v. State</u>, 303 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1974). The ultimate decision as to whether the death penalty

1

The State would reiterate its position made in past cases that abolition of this so-called <u>Tedder</u> rule by this Court would be totally appropriate inasmuch as the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals has realistically stated in Spinkellink v. Wainwright, 578 F.2d 582, 605 (1978), that ". . . reasonable persons can differ over the fate of every criminal defendant in every death penalty case." However, as desirable as the abolition of <u>Tedder</u> may be, it is not required in the instant case. What is required is total rejection of any suggestion by appellant sub judice that <u>Tedder</u> should be extended to ignoring the trial judge's sentencing order and focusing wholly on the unstated predicate of the jury recommendation. should be imposed rests with the trial judge. <u>Thomas</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Hoy</u> <u>v. State</u>, 353 So.2d 826 (Fla. 1977), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 439 U.S. 920, 99 S.Ct. 293, 58 L.Ed.2d 265 (1978).

Clearly, then, pursuant to the statute governing capital sentencing proceedings as well as prevailing case law, the trial court may appropriately weigh aggravating and mitigating circumstances regardless of what the jury's recommended sentence has been. In the instant case, the trial court in its role as the ultimate sentencer considered all of the evidence that was before the jury, including the voluminous, redundant evidence offered in mitigation, and concluded that each of the aggravating factors outweighed the sole non-statutory mitigating circumstance and, thus, the death penalty was appropriate.

Nevertheless, Appellant asserts that the trial court did not give proper consideration to the jury's basis for recommending life imprisonment before the court imposed the death penalty. While there is some authority for the position that "where there are one or more aggravating circumstances and the trial judge has found no mitigating circumstances sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstances application of the <u>Tedder</u> rule calls for inquiry into whether there was some reasonable ground for a life sentence that might have influenced the jury to make such a recommendation," <u>Thomas</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Lusk v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1984); <u>Stevens v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1982), that authority does not suggest, as Appellant implies in his brief, that this Court engage in speculative perusals of the record in search of any circumstance which could possibly have

-11-

supported the jury's life recommendation. Tedder cannot reasonably be construed as creating a license by which the court may guess and speculate as to the basis for the jury's recommendation and, in the process, ignore the well-considered written findings of the sentencing judge. Indeed, to so construe Tedder would completely obfuscate the statutory function of the sentencing judge and, as noted above, would, contrary to clear legislative intent, reduce the trial judge's function to that of merely explaining why he concurs with a jury's recommendation of death. The Florida Legislature has not seen fit to abolish the jury override; nor has the Legislature required the jury to provide written findings in support of its sentence. Without written findings in support of the jury's sentence, such sentence is advisory and can never be given more deference than a judge's sentence supported by written findings. According such deference to a jury's advisory sentence unsupported by written findings constitutes the very arbitrariness and inconsistency condemned by the United States Supreme Court in Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 33 L.Ed.2d 346, 92 S.Ct. 2726 (1972).

The better approach was taken by this Court recently in <u>Echols</u> <u>v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla. 1985), in which it was stated that in determining, pursuant to <u>Tedder</u>, whether an override is based on facts so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ, one must look at the trial court's <u>sentencing order</u>. <u>Id</u>. at 576. Appellant enumerates numerous factors in order for this Court to speculate as to why the jury recommended life, by looking at the evidence before the jury as opposed to the sentencer's order.

-12-

However, this Court will <u>never</u> know whether the jury's recommendation was predicated on rational or arbitrary reasons since the jury did not delineate its findings. To satisfy the constitutional standards espoused in <u>Furman v. Georgia</u>, and <u>Proffitt v. Florida</u>, 428 U.S. 242, 49 L.Ed.2d 913, 96 S.Ct. 2960 (1976), the trial judge's sentencing order must be the order reviewed, not the unstated conclusions of the jury. Whereas here, the trial judge has determined the presence of two aggravating factors and one non-statutory mitigating factor, and his findings are not erroneous, this Court must agree that death is the appropriate sentence. <u>Cf. Wainwright v. Goode</u>, 464 U.S. 78, 78 L.Ed.2d 187, 104 S.Ct. 378 (1983); <u>Parker v. State</u>, 450 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1984); <u>Groover v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 226 (Fla. 1984); Johnson v. <u>State</u>, 393 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1980); <u>Spaziano v. State</u>, 433 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1983).

The trial court specifically stated that it had considered the aggravating and mitigating circumstances enumerated under §921.141 and "any other aspect of the Defendant's character or record, and any other circumstance of the offense," and applied them to the facts of this case (R 522-525). In considering the nine aggravating factors in light of the evidence sub judice the court concluded that two of the nine were present in this case (R 523-524). The validity of the court's finding in this regard is not challenged by Appellant. However, Appellant does challenge the court's failure to conclude as mitigating circumstances, Appellant's condition and impaired capacity due to his alcohol intoxication.

Evidence of such statutory mitigation was presented at sentencing through the testimony of court appointed psychiatrist

-13-

Umesh Mhatre (R 1274-1300). The witness concluded that Appellant had a blood alcohol level of .25 at the time of the shooting and, as a result, was under extreme mental duress (R 1279) and there was a greatly diminished capacity to appreciate the consequences of his acts (R 1284). This conclusion was apparently damaged greatly on cross examination where the doctor's procedure of examination was established. Mhatre testified that his examination of Appellant merely consisted of "just talking to him" and obtaining information from him (R 1285). Appellant gave Mhatre a self-serving summary of how much he had to drink throughout the day of the shooting (R 1287). Thereafter, Mhatre determined from "rough estimates" of a similar person's alcohol intake, the Appellant had a blood alcohol level of .25 at the time of the shooting (R 1286). It was further established that Mhatre arbitrarily believed Appellant regarding his alcohol consumption, however, Mhatre, absent any reason therefor, did not believe a word Appellant said of the circumstances surrounding the alleged accidental shooting (R 1288). Moreover, throughout the trial, eyewitnesses testified that Appellant did not appear drunk at the time of the shooting or immediately thereafter (R 924, 925, 978, 979, 980, 1023, 1024, 1044, 1069, 1070, 1101-1103). The State would further submit that, where immediately after the shooting, Appellant exclaimed, "I know I messed up," and proceeded to take care of some business matters before being taken to jail (R 1041), how could any reasonable person conclude that Appellant did not have the mental capacity to appreciate the consequences of his act? Obviously the trial judge did not ignore, as Appellant asserts, the testimony regarding the

-14-

mental mitigation but rather, gave it the weight it deserved, considering all of the evidence. Mere disagreement with the force to be given such evidence is an insufficient basis for challenging a sentence. <u>See Hargrave v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 444 U.S. 919, 100 S.Ct. 239, 62 L.Ed.2d 176 (1979); <u>Quince</u> v. State, 414 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1982).

The facts justifying Appellant's death sentence are so clear and convincing that reasonable persons could not differ as to the appropriate sentence. This is not Appellant's first murder. The facts surrounding the instant offense are greatly similar to those for which Appellant was convicted in 1973. In both instances, Appellant shot and killed his lover during a domestic dispute. However, in the previous offense Appellant pled guilty to second degree murder and was sentenced to life (R 54). This constituted the grounds for the trial court's finding of an aggravated circumstance under §921.141(5)(b), and properly so. Why should Appellant be permitted to kill at will, on separate occasions, two women for no justifiable reason and then plead for the mercy of the sentencing court? The evidence showed a fully intentional, premeditated murder by a convicted felon under sentence of imprisonment for an identical murder. The one mitigating factor ² found by the court, that Appellant "was a good worker and a responsible employee," was properly concluded as

2

The Court's finding that Appellant had violated §790.23, Fla. Stat., (possession of a firearm by a convicted felon) was predicated on the evidence and the fact that Appellant was arrested and a case number set up therefor, although he was not formally charged. This finding merely refuted evidence that Appellant was a law abiding citizen and was not considered, as Appellant asserts, a non-statutory aggravating circumstance.

having "almost no weight in relationship to the aggravating circumstances." (R 524-525) Implicit within the detailed order of the trial court is the fact that, by necessity, the court had to consider whether under the facts before him, the jury had some reasonable basis for making its life recommendation. Clearly, the trial judge concluded, based upon his own reasoned judgment, that there existed no such basis. Reasonable persons cannot differ as to the appropriate sentence for Appellant--death.

As a result, the court did not err in weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances in this case and overriding the jury's recommendation of life.

CONCLUSION

Based on the facts and foregoing argument, Appellant's judgment and sentence should be affirmed.